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INTRODUCTION

The Vicksburg District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, was established in 1884.  It included the vital stretch of the Mississippi River from just below Memphis, Tennessee, south to the mouth of the Red River, about 150 river miles above New Orleans.  Extending east into the state of Mississippi and west into Louisiana and southeastern Arkansas, it further encompassed the basins of various tributaries of the Mississippi, such as the Yazoo, Big Black, Ouachita, and Red rivers.

Prior to the outbreak of World War II, the district concentrated its efforts almost entirely on attempts to control flooding and improve navigation of the Mississippi River and its tributaries.  Levee building, revetment, snagging and dredging operations, and cutoff construction had by 1937 brought a degree of control to the "Big River," as the great flood of that year was held in check.

In addition, in the late 1930s, the district was involved in the design and construction of the massive flood control reservoir at Sardis, Mississippi, in the upper Yazoo Basin.

The district's functions were expanded dramatically by war.  Armed conflict in Europe began with the German invasion of Poland in September 1939.  Nazi triumphs there and in France the following spring caused the United States to begin the first peacetime military mobilization in its history, though on a modest scale.  Efforts soon took on a sense of urgency.  In 1941, further German advances, coupled with increased Japanese belligerence in the Pacific, led to the institution of the first American peacetime draft.  Plans called for expanding Army ground forces from 400,000 to 4,000,000.

It quickly became apparent that the most important factor in mobilization was military construction.  Practically from bare ground--or worse--army camps, air bases, ordnance plants, hospitals, and other facilities had to be built to house, train, and supply the new mass army.  Since World War I, construction had been a function of the Construction Division of the U.S. Army Quartermaster Corps.  By late 1940, however, the Quartermasters were overwhelmed by the new construction tasks.  Consequently, the Army shifted part of the burden of military construction to the Corps of Engineers.  In December 1941, shortly after the Japanese bombing of Pearl Harbor and American entry into the global struggle, the Army assigned all military construction in the United States to the Corps.  This major redistribution of power and responsibility involved the Corps during the next four years in a  building program which embraced more than 27,000 projects, large and small, costing over $15.3 billion.

The Vicksburg District played a diverse and vital role in the Corps construction program.  Ably led by District Engineer Samuel D. Sturgis, the organization shifted its focus from civil activities to military construction without serious interruption. Major projects included air bases, auxiliary fields, infantry training camps, enemy internment camps, Japanese-American relocation centers, major ordnance plants, and hospitals.  In addition to "normal" construction dilemmas--lack of adequate building specifications, personnel and material shortages, and demanding timetables--Sturgis dealt endlessly with political interference, institutional and personal conflicts, contracting and public relations nightmares.

Sturgis hardly acted alone.  At his disposal was a district organization experienced in civil construction activities and with a capable cadre of administrators and engineers.  William Harrison, Russell C. Baker, George Morris, Raymond Sauer, William L. Lipscomb, Kenneth McLaughlin, and scores of other dedicated employees suspended peacetime rules, sticking to their jobs through long days and sleepless nights.  Regardless of hardship, they endured until their tasks were completed.

After a frenzied year, by the end of 1942 the district had completed most of its construction objectives.  The Army then transferred administration of its remaining construction activities to the Corps Mobile and Little Rock Districts, while the Vicksburg District returned to its traditional peacetime functions.  Sturgis and other Vicksburg personnel, transferred to overseas duties, went on to serve with distinction in both the Pacific and European theaters.  Behind them, in the Vicksburg District, they left an unsurpassed legacy of commitment and efficiency.  This was the Vicksburg Victory.

 
PART I


THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS


IN WORLD WAR II:


THE SHIFT TO MILITARY CONSTRUCTION

In late January 1945, the 10th Fighter Squadron, U.S. Army Air Force, took off from its prefabricated base near Reims, France.  Rising through the morning fog, the P-51s burst into the winter sunlight as they neared the Belgian border.  To their left, already in formation, flew the lumbering B-17s of the 95th Bombardment Group, up from their base at Horham, England.  Together they would penetrate deep into the heart of Nazi Germany within the hour.  Passing over Belgium at 25,000 ft., approaching the vital Saar Valley, the American pilots caught glimpses of motion on the ground where the 94th Infantry Division, recovered now from its pounding in the Battle of the Bulge, prepared for the breakthrough to the Rhine--Germany's last line of defense in the West.

Simultaneously, half a world away, the B-25s of the 69th Bombardment Squadron lifted off from their base on Luzon to hammer Japanese positions in preparation for Gen.  Douglas MacArthur's liberation of the Philippines.  Separated by thousands of miles, engaged in seemingly disjointed actions in the global war, there was a common tie:  each unit had received at least part of its training at facilities constructed by the Vicksburg District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.

The Corps of Engineers Before World War II
The Corps of Engineers today is best known for its role in civil works projects, particularly those dealing with flood control or navigation.  The Corps was, however, literally born in battle on July 16, 1775, at Bunker Hill, when George Washington appointed Boston native Richard Gridley as the first Chief Engineer.  After playing important military roles in the American Revolution and the War of 1812, Army engineers saw their functions expand to include constructing coastal fortifications, building forts in the new western territories, and to new non-military roles such as the survey and exploration of the Louisiana Territory.  In 1824 the Corps of Engineers took on its first major civil works project‑‑​clearing the channels of the Ohio and Mississippi rivers of snags.

The Mexican War, 1846-48, saw the Corps make the rapid transition from essentially civil to military operations without a break in continuity, starting a Corps tradition repeated on several later occasions.  Mexican War Army engineers included Robert E. Lee, George B. McClellan, George B. Meade, P. G. T. Beauregard, and John C. Fremont, all of whom met on less friendly terms in the impending civil war.

The Civil War, in fact, demonstrated more than any previous conflict the value of military engineering.  Engineer units particularly pioneered revolutionary new techniques in road, bridge, and railroad construction.  Already it was apparent that the experiences of Corps engineers in civil projects and fortification construction during peacetime were essential in preparing for war.

In the aftermath of the Civil War, peacetime functions of Army engineers expanded further.  Internal waterway and coastal harbor improvement efforts increased, and the Corps supervised a massive "facelift" of Washington, D.C., including completion of the Washington Monument and construction of the Library of Congress.  After the brief interruption of the Spanish-American War in 1898, Corps officers designed and executed to completion the most remarkable engineering achievement in American history to that date, the Panama Canal.

At the entry of the United States in World War I in 1917, the Corps again shifted from civil to primarily military functions, with 296,000 Americans serving in Engineer units.  In fact, the first U.S. casualties of that conflict were sappers of the 11th Engineer Regiment in France.

The relatively peaceful decades of the 1920s and 1930s saw the Corps again make the relatively uninterrupted return to civil projects, though on a much increased basis.  In 1927, Congress authorized the Corps to survey all the country's navigable waterways in order to formulate comprehensive plans for the improvement of navigation, water power, flood control, and irrigation.  The passage of the monumental 1936 Flood Control Act made the Corps responsible for all flood control throughout the United States.

Thus, at the outbreak of World War II in Europe in 1939, the Corps of Engineers had an established history of wartime service in field engineer units and of peacetime service in vital civil works and fortifications projects.  The global war would soon enlarge both of those functions and add yet another--the massive construction of internal military training facilities.

World War II:
U.S. Mobilization Begins
The Nazi invasion of Poland and subsequent declarations of war on Germany by England and France in September 1939 plunged Europe into war.  Though not yet directly involved, the United States‑‑later called "a sleeping giant" by Japanese Admiral Yamamoto‑‑began to toss and turn.  By the spring of 1940, the first peacetime military mobilization in the history of the country was in progress, though on a tiny scale compared with what was to come.  In May 1940, Congress adopted a proposal to provide for the training of 7,000 pilots.  By fall this had been raised to 12,000, and in February 1941 the call up was increased dramatically to 30,000 a year in 84 combat groups.  Also, in 1941, the Army made plans to expand its ground forces‑‑whose strength was under 400,000‑‑to 4,000,000.  To reach that figure, Congress in July of that year enacted the first peacetime draft in American history.

As tens of thousands of men and women entered military service, it quickly became apparent that the most important factor in mobilization was military construction.  After two decades of peace, facilities were sorely lacking.  Practically from bare ground‑‑or worse‑‑air bases, auxiliary air fields, army camps, ordnance plants, hospitals, and other facilities had to be built to house, equip, and train the new mass army.  

Military Construction:

The Quartermaster Corps

Since World War I, construction of internal military facilities had been a function of the Construction Division of the U.S. Army Quartermaster Corps (QMC).  However, during the postwar demobilization and subsequent American policy of isolationism, the Quartermasters had gone through a decline in manpower and influence.  They were ill prepared for the avalanche of work orders which began to descend in 1940.  Accustomed to erecting housing facilities and to the logistics of supply, the QMC was especially inexperienced in the newer technology of airfield construction, was plagued by overcentralized administration, and was often burdened with obsolete plans.  Some QMC blueprints still provided for tables for horses but did not include indoor plumbing for barracks.

Despite statistics to the contrary, by late 1940, the Quartermaster Chief Lt.  Gen. Brehon Somervell arrived at project report statistics simply by dividing the actual expenditures to date by the total allotment for a project.  Thus, if a project had received an appropriation of $1,000,000 and $800,000 had been spent, the QMC publicized it as being eighty percent complete.  Expenditures for materials were included in calculations even if the materials were only stockpiled.  QMC projects "statistically" near completion were often months from actual useful occupation.

Military Construction:

The Transfer to the Corps of Engineers

QMC problems soon caught the attention of Army planners, who called for change.  Since the Corps of Engineers had long been engaged in large-scale civil construction projects, the Army shifted part of the burden of military construction to it in late 1940.  The engineers particularly took over QMC projects involving airfields.

Corps of Engineers successes led to a rapidly expanding construction role.  The shift culminated in a massive redistribution of power and responsibility, when in December 1941, the Army assigned all military construction in the United States to the engineers.  Over the next four years the Corps was involved in a building program which embraced more than 27,000 projects, large and small, costing over $15.3 billion.  Corps construction projects included 1,875 posts, camps and stations, 67 general hospitals, 22 aircraft assembly plants, 174 ordnance plants, and the Pentagon.  From a peacetime force of 178 military and 39,000 full-time civilian personnel in 1939, the Corps eventually totaled almost 700,000 personnel, 20 percent of whom were black.  In some areas of the Pacific, Corps personnel actually outnumbered the infantry.  Small wonder that MacArthur called the Pacific theater an "engineer's war."

Construction Dilemmas
The shift to military construction in 1941 was rife with difficulties, particularly in areas where Air Corps site selection boards had chosen poor building locations or where construction had already been started by the Quartermasters.  There were also the inevitable personal and institutional conflicts between the Engineers and the Quartermasters as the latter's functions were pre-empted.  Corps personnel soon became more than familiar with a multitude of additional difficulties, ranging from quarrels with base commanders, intransigent site selection committees, unrealistic contracting methods, material shortages, labor disputes, political interference, and public relations imprecations.

Nonetheless, by 1942 the Corps of Engineers was performing its expanded mission smoothly.  Accustomed to flood control, dam and harbor improvement, and other major civil projects, the Corps proved capable of shifting its earth moving, harbor improvement, drainage, and paving skills to different purposes.  Extolling the success of the Corps in its new role, a general staff study in 1945 noted that "No civil works agency not headed by military officers could conceivably convert itself as rapidly and effectively to perform such tasks [military construction], particularly in a pre-war period comparable to 1940-41."  Gen.  Dwight D. Eisenhower in a post-war comment further stated that "I believe that the river and harbor program does more to train our engineers in the large concepts by which they perform their wartime missions than could any other field of endeavor."
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